1

Safety & Ethics: Preventing Medical Errors #1

Click here for help if only this page of the course is viewable.



www.healthcmi.com

You have successfully downloaded the course material. Please remember to **SAVE** this document (if your browser has not done this already). The SAVE option is usually located in the FILE menu of your web browser or move the cursor to the bottom of your browser screen for a save option. To save on an iPhone, tap on the screen then tap on "Open in iBooks."

Quizzes, Certificates of Completion, Downloads

To take quizzes, get certificates, and download courses at www.healthcmi.com:

Login (if not already logged in) and enter your username and password

After Login, a menu appears entitled "Courses, Tests, Certificates" Click on "Acupuncture Courses"

Follow the links. Courses can be downloaded to multiple locations, quizzes can be taken (and retaken if needed), and certificates of completion can be saved and printed.

Note: First, select the Quiz button. Next, it changes to the Take Test button. This changes to a get Certificate button once you have passed the test.

www.HealthCMi.com

Table of Contents

Table of Contents	
Safety & Ethics Preventing Medical Errors #1	4
Introduction	4
Legal, Regulatory and Research	6
RULE OF THUMB: DEVELOP AN ATTITUDE OF SAFETY	7
Legal Duty of Care	7
Negligence	7
Malpractice and liability	8
Informed Consent	9
Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) and Recordkeeping	10
Occupational Safety and Health Administration	11
Research	
Case Study 1	14
Discussion	14
Section Review Exercises	15
Clinical Practice – Part 1	21
Listening and Communication Skills	22
Critical Thinking Skills	23
Clinical Warning Signs for Referral	24
Medical Errors	25
Documentation and Reporting	26
Case Study 2	28
Discussion	28
Case Study 3	30
Discussion	30
Section Review Exercises	31
Infectious Disease Awareness	35
Hepatitis and HIV	35
Summary of Medical Error Prevention	39
Safety Rules	
World Health Organization Recommendations	40
Preventative Measures	41
Herbal Safety	42
New CPR Guidelines	43
Hepatitis and HIV	44
Links	45

Disclaimer

The authors and contributors cannot be held responsible for the use or misuse of the information in this work. The authors and contributors are not responsible for nor can be held responsible for errors or omissions of fact or consequences from the use or misuse of the contents of this work. Additionally, governmental laws and regulations vary from region to region and the contents of this work vary in permissible usage. The reader is advised to check their local, state, and federal laws and regulations regarding the use of the information of this work including theory, cupping, moxibustion, herbal medicine, foods and acupuncture. Note that blood invigorating herbs and/or foods in this work may be contraindicated during pregnancy, bleeding disorders and where the possibility of an embolism is present. The herbal formulas and food treatments are only to be used in the context of Chinese Medicine (including the use of a differential diagnosis) by a trained and licensed practitioner. None of the herbal medicines and foods for internal use or external topical use are prescriptions but are formulas and food treatments that are traditionally used in Chinese Medicine (CM). The authors and contributors cannot be held responsible for results obtained from the information contained in this work. Note, the availability of herbs and foods may fluctuate depending on FDA and USDA restrictions on the sale of herbs and foods and the reader is advised to abide by all FDA and USDA restrictions.

Safety & Ethics Preventing Medical Errors #1

Introduction

Preventable Medical Errors is one of the biggest concerns presently affecting US healthcare. Preventable Medical Errors include such things as adverse events (AEs), adverse drug events (ADEs), fatal drug events, misdiagnosis, incorrect treatment or surgery, failure to treat, treating the wrong patient, and preventable infections and deaths. These outcomes occur in clinics and institutions due to error and neglect. According HealthGrades, a leading third party evaluator of hospitals and resource for health professionals, nearly 1 million patient-safety incidents occurred in US hospitals between 2006-2008. The cost of preventable medical errors in hospitals is about \$9 billion annually. Adverse drug events are the most common health problem with as many as 1.5 million ADEs occurring in the US annually.

All healthcare providers, whether they are allopathic or complementary, are responsible for providing a safe environment for patients to heal. Whether the provider is an acupuncturist, therapist, physician, or nurse, the basic tenet of do no harm governs our work. As acupuncturists, we particularly need to be aware of potential risks and seek to avoid them because many of our patients seek complementary medicine when they feel allopathic medicine failed to meet their needs. Consider this story:

A female patient in her early-fifties was suffering from metrorrhagia, uterine bleeding at irregular intervals. She had been bleeding daily for 6 months. During that time, she was seeing an acupuncturist and receiving herbs as well as acupuncture and Tuina treatments. She also had been researching natural hormonal remedies on her own but not taking any other products besides the herbs. During the six month period, her condition worsened. She became pale, had memory problems, and low energy and fatigue. Also, during the

six month period, she fell and broke her arm. Needless to say, she was also emotionally distraught.

One day she went to the airport to pick up a friend, who was a physical therapist. The friend noticed how pale and fatigued the patient appeared and that "something" just did not seem right. The friend suggested the patient to go to the doctor that day if possible. The patient went to the emergency room after leaving her friend. The emergency doctor order lab tests and completed a physical examination. The lab results indicated her hemoglobin count was significantly below 7 g/DL. The patient had lost so much blood from the metrorhagghia that a blood transfusion was necessary. The attending emergency room physician said at the rate the patient was going, she could have died within a matter of days.

This patient was concerned her acupuncturist had not realized how bad her condition had progressed. Only one day prior to the emergency room visit, she had seen her acupuncturist.

Fortunately, this is not a common story. However, it does illustrate as healthcare practitioners, acupuncturists need to be timely in applying the proper intervention and making referrals. Negligence can occur due to failure to act as well as committing an inappropriate action.

The most important maxim of Western medicine comes from the ancient Greeks: "Primum non nocere"- first do no harm. The ancient Chinese also subscribed to a similar view. So how can modern healers adhere to this commitment?

As a caregiver, some important questions we must first consider include:

- What are the clinical risks?
- In what ways are patients harmed?
- How can practitioners prevent mistakes?
- How frequently are patients harmed in the acupuncture setting?
- How do we prevent the spread of disease and infections, which is a major concern in conventional healthcare?

- What are the privacy requirements and the ethical concerns?
- Most importantly, how can practitioners learn from mistakes?

Awareness and proactive action are primary tools in minimizing medical mistakes. In this section of the course, we will cover legal issues, regulatory requirements, and research issues. We will also learn some important legal terminology.

In the second part of this course, we will look at how an acupuncturist can be proactive in the clinical setting in communicating, referring patients, preventing infections, and avoiding clinical errors. In comparison to other medical practices, acupuncture risks are low. Nonetheless, acupuncturists still need to be aware of safe practices and standards of care to protect themselves and their patients. Additionally, the issue of minimizing and preventing medical errors is not just about safety in the acupuncture setting but also about the quality of care. In this course, we will point out heuristics (rules of thumb) to serve as memory aids for you after completing this course.

One main issue in the profession is that many acupuncturists work in small single practitioner offices and some of the concerns larger clinics and hospitals experience are irrelevant. However, as the profession continues to expand, the issues larger institutions face may increase for the profession.

Legal, Regulatory and Research

Whether a large or small clinic, there are some general legal and regulatory requirements for safe practice in the acupuncture setting. Safe medical practice in any setting begins with the management of the organization. It requires a systems approach and attitude of safety first.

RULE OF THUMB: DEVELOP AN ATTITUDE OF SAFETY

Legal Duty of Care

It is important to understand that the legal relationship between an acupuncturist and patient is contractual and voluntary. The acupuncturist can determine whom he or she will enter into an agreement with to provide care. Once an agreement has been established, the acupuncturist also has a legal duty to act with the due care and skill of a responsible healthcare provider in similar circumstances.

With respect to duty of care, all practitioners are subject to both criminal and civil law; however, few practitioners are charged with criminal intent. Most medical-related legal cases involve civil suits, and most of these claims are for trespassing or negligence.

A practitioner might be held liable for trespassing for any of the following:

- · Touching the patient without any prior consent
- Failing to provide an explanation of the treatment
- Misrepresenting or making fraudulent claims to the patient about treatments
- Going beyond what the patient has consented or agreed to

Negligence

Negligence claims are more common in the acupuncture setting and are more likely to result in error than trespassing claims. Negligent acts are those mistakes a practitioner makes outside the standard expected of a reasonable practitioner under similar circumstances. All

mistakes are not necessarily negligent. *Moreover, negligent acts involve unintended mistakes while criminal acts involve intent.*

In a negligent claim, the burden of proof lies with the patient to prove the:

- Practitioner owed the patient a duty of care
- Practitioner breached the duty
- Breach of duty caused the patient harm

Practitioners can be held negligent by either commission or omission. Omission means failing to act in a circumstance when a reasonable practitioner would have acted. For instance, the practitioner in the story at the beginning of this course could have been held liable for failing to act. In the acupuncture setting, it may be easier for a patient to prove a case of negligence by omission rather than commission. For this reason, it is essential for acupuncturists to be diligent in making referrals when circumstances require such action.

An essential point to remember is that the acupuncturist should stay up-to-date and comply with clinical practice guidelines as outlined by the National Acupuncture Foundation, the National Certification Commission for Acupuncture and Oriental Medicine, the State Medical Boards, and other authorities in the field. Many medical mistakes occur when practitioners are unaware of the standards of care or become forgetful and negligent to apply standard guidelines. Compliance with guidelines is not just a legal duty it is also an ethical duty to patients.

Malpractice and liability

Malpractice claims against acupuncturist are significantly lower than for other healthcare providers. A 1998 report indicated alternative medicine malpractice accounted for 5% of total medical malpractice claims in the US. This number includes all forms of complementary and alternative medicine not just acupuncture. In the event a malpractice claim is made against an acupuncturist, the patient again

bears the burden of proof and must prove malpractice by the acupuncturist. Malpractice is the improper or negligent treatment of a patient, which causes loss, harm or injury. Maleficence means to act with harmful intent.

Informed Consent

Informed consent is when a fully informed patient participates in healthcare decisions. Informed consent is also known as the Right to Know Law and is a legal requirement that systematically addresses the patient's ethical right to understanding and consenting to medical treatment before such treatment is delivered in a non-emergency situation. The major elements of informed consent involve:

- 1. The patient's right to receive full disclosure of information receiving the treatment or intervention from the provider.
- 2. The patient's right to understanding the information disclosed. The information disclosed should include:
 - a. Benefits of the treatment
 - b. Alternatives to the treatment
 - c. Risks
 - d. Consequences of the treatment
- 3. The patient's right to decide whether to accept treatment without coercion.

In no case may an acupuncturist impose services on a patient without prior consent. Informed consent in the acupuncture setting is particularly important when a procedure can cause or be interpreted as causing physical damage, such as with gua sha, moxibustion, cupping, electro-stimulation, and even needling.

Consent can be oral or written consent. However, written consent provides visible proof of the patient's comprehension and agreement. Additionally, legal consent is legally binding in court. An acupuncturist

may be held liable for malpractice if the acupuncturist renders treatment to a patient without first providing full disclosure of the risks involved.

An important criteria with informed consent is that consent should be obtained from the patient or a person authorized by law to represent the patient. Informed consent is required of an adult patient or parent of the patient. Individuals who can provide consent include:

- 1) The legal guardian of a minor
- 2) Any individual who has given legal authorization (power of attorney)
- 3) A married minor (in some states)

Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA) and Recordkeeping

HIPAA regulations comprise two parts. The Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 is a federal law says employees belonging to group health plans must be allowed to purchase insurance for a period of time after they leave their jobs or change employment status. This law also created standards regarding how healthcare providers and third party entities handle patient health information. The standards specify who has authorization to view patient information and how private information, such as a patient's name or date of birth should be stored.

As part of their healthcare responsibilities, acupuncturists are legally bound to maintain the confidentiality of patient information and records. Acupuncturists should provide all patients a Health Information and Privacy Notice prior to treatment. Additionally, patient files should be kept up to date and indicate:

- Basic patient information
- Insurance information
- Clinic's cancellation policy

- Patient's healthy history
- Informed Consent
- SOAP Notes or Patient Intake Forms with patient name, date, examination, diagnosis, treatment plan, and herbal prescriptions
- ICD-9 and CPT codes as applicable. ICD-9 is now transitioning to ICD-10. ICD-10 will be the new standard of diagnostic coding and will replace ICD-9.

Records should be maintained according to your state's requirements. In an acupuncture setting, HIPAA noncompliance may not directly lead to a clinical error. However, inaccurate information can lead to mistakes in the treatment room. Acupuncturists, or any staff handling patient records, should comply with all federal and state requirements for handling patient information and records.

Occupational Safety and Health Administration

A discussion of patient safety would be remiss without a brief overview of occupational safety. The Occupational Safety and Health Administration is the enforcement agency for workplace safety and health. OSHA and the National Acupuncture Foundation (NCCA) outline specific risk management procedures for acupuncturists as related to:

- Safe disposal of needles
- Prevention and control of infectious diseases, including bloodborne and airborne pathogens
- · Personal protective equipment, e.g., gloves
- Hygiene, e.g., frequent hand washing
- · Clean needling techniques

Acupuncturists certified by the National Certification Commission for Acupuncture and Oriental Medicine (NCCAOM) must comply with clean needle guidelines. These guidelines protect not only the patient but also the provider and clinic staff from accidents and transmission

of diseases. In any case, acupuncturists should keep and review copies of clean needle guidelines and maintain an infection control plan for their facilities.

In addition to OSHA requirements, each state has specific licensing requirements and reporting for providers who contract a communicable disease or who have a health condition that impacts their ability to treat patients. Acupuncturists should stay current on their state's requirements.

Research

Evidence-based medicine has transformed modern medical practice. Evidence-based practices are a blend of research and practical application that evaluates therapeutic interventions and assesses them based on levels of evidence. The push for validation of acupuncture protocols will continue to push the profession forward with more scientific research and evidence-based practices. Research will provide evidence for the efficacy of treatments and will provide evidence and support for historical anecdotal and experiential practices. However, the concern for modern practitioners is whether reliable methodologies are used during these studies.

Research can provide essential information in terms of helping to manage risks as well as validate treatments—both new and traditional. Consider the following abstract which illustrates an evidence-based research abstract entitled, "Safety and Efficacy of Acupuncture in Children: A Review of the Evidence" by Jindal V, Ge A, Mansky PJ.

"Acupuncture has been used therapeutically in China for thousands of years and is growing in prominence in Europe and the United States. In a recent review of complementary and alternative medicine use in the US population, an estimated 2.1 million people or 1.1% of the population sought acupuncture care during the past 12 months. Four percent of the US population used acupuncture at any time in their lives. We

reviewed 31 different published journal articles, including 23 randomized controlled clinical trials and 8 metaanalysis/systematic reviews. We found evidence of some efficacy and low risk associated with acupuncture in pediatrics. From all the conditions we reviewed, the most extensive research has looked into acupuncture's role in managing postoperative and chemotherapy-induced nausea/vomiting...Through our review of pediatric adverse events, we found a 1.55 risk of adverse events occurring in 100 treatments of acupuncture that coincides with the low risk detailed in the studies mentioned previously. The actual risk to an individual patient is hard to determine because certain patients, such as an immunosuppressed patient, can be predisposed to an increased risk, acupuncturist's qualifications differ, and practices vary in certain parts of the world. Nevertheless, it seems acupuncture is a safe complementary/alternative medicine modality for pediatric patients on the basis of the data we reviewed."1

Meta-analysis and systematic reviews support evidence-based clinical practices and help practitioners stay abreast of quality research. When evaluating research, be certain methodologies include meta-analysis/systematic reviews, the "gold standard for clinical trials," or at the least randomized clinical trials. Systematic reviews involve summing up the best available research data for a specific issue by making a comparative review of a number of studies. This process is more reliable than basing practices on one or two research findings.

¹ Division of Intramural Research, National Center for Complementary Medicine, National Institutes of Health, DHHS, Bethesda, MD, USA. http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/18525459

Case Study 1

A patient recently contacted you by telephone regarding treatment for pulmonary hypertension. The patient said he also has been diagnosed with congestive heart failure. The patient wishes to get off of his medication and is wondering if acupuncture will help him. Over the phone, you answer general questions regarding acupuncture and Oriental Medicine. You provide the patient a brief overview of a treatment session. You explain that due to the nature of his illnesses, you wish to work with his primary care physician and cardiologist using an integrated approach to treating his condition rather than having him discontinue medications abruptly and without his physician's awareness. The patient is still hopeful that acupuncture will help him reduce his medication and schedules an appointment. For his first visit, you request the patient to bring with him a list of medications with dosages and his physician's contact information.

On his first visit, you take a detailed patient history. You discover that the patient had an episode of congestive heart failure 3 years ago. The patient says he currently has difficulty breathing with severe fatigue, and today the breathlessness is his chief concern. **What other information should you obtain from this patient?**

Discussion

Before proceeding with needling, discuss the treatment. Ensure the patient understands the risks, alternatives, and expected outcomes to the treatment. Most of all, be certain to obtain his written informed consent.

Section Review Exercises

(Answers on the page following these questions.)

1. Legal duty of care is to:

- a. Act with the due care and skill of a responsible healthcare provider in similar circumstances
- b. Provide patients care in unusual circumstances
- c. Act in an emergency situation
- d. Provide unsolicited healthcare to victims of accidents or trauma

2. Negligence is defined as:

- a. All mistakes which occur in the medical setting
- b. Mistakes a practitioner makes *outside* the standard expected of a reasonable practitioner under similar circumstances
- Mistakes a practitioner makes within the standard expected of a reasonable practitioner under similar circumstances
- d. Malicious Intent to cause death, harm or injury

3. Maleficence means to:

- a. Cause no harm
- b. Act with a harmful intention
- c. Make unintended mistakes
- d. Provide due care

4. Malpractice is

- a. Care performed under normal circumstances resulting in intended mistakes
- b. Standard duty of care performed under unusual circumstances
- c. The correct treatment of a patient, which causes loss, harm or injury
- d. The improper or negligent treatment of a patient, which causes loss, harm, or injury
- 5. Informed Consent must include all of the following except for:
 - a. An explanation of the treatment to be performed, risks, expected outcomes and possible alternatives
 - b. The patient's understanding of the treatment
 - c. The patient's consent to treatment and signature
 - d. The provider must provide a technically detailed explanation of the treatment
- 6. HIPAA regulations specify how healthcare providers should:
 - a. Provide duty of care
 - b. Store and handle patient records
 - c. Obtain informed consent
 - d. Report incidents
- 7. OSHA regulations are primarily designed to protect:
 - a. Workers
 - b. Patients
 - c. Hospitals
 - d. Clinics

- 8. OSHA regulations requires all of the following for healthcare workers except for:
 - a. Malpractice insurance coverage
 - b. Personal protective equipment
 - c. Training to prevent the spread of bloodborne pathogens
 - d. That employers offer Hepatitis B vaccine to employees
- 9. All of the following are characteristics of systematic reviews except they:
 - a. Combine a number of studies
 - b. Are based on one or two findings
 - c. Support evidence-based practices
 - d. Help practitioners stay current on research

Answers to Self-Help Review Exercises

1. Legal duty of care is to:

Correct answer:

a. Act with the due care and skill of a responsible healthcare provider in similar circumstances

All healthcare practitioners have a legal duty of care to provide their patients. The legal duty of care is to act with the due care and skill of a responsible healthcare provider in similar circumstances.

2. Negligence is defined as:

Correct answer:

b. Mistakes a practitioner makes outside the standard expected of a reasonable practitioner under similar circumstances

Negligence occurs when a practitioner makes mistakes outside of the standards expected of a reasonable practitioner under similar circumstances. Negligence is not intentional harm.

3. Maleficence means to:

Correct answer:

b. Act with a harmful intention

Maleficence is the opposite of non-maleficence or beneficence. Maleficence means to act with a harmful intention.

4. Malpractice is:

Correct answer:

d. The improper or negligent treatment of a patient, which causes loss, harm, or injury

Malpractice is the improper or negligent treatment of a patient. Malpractice causes loss, harm, or injury.

5. Informed Consent must include all of the following except for:

Correct answer:

d. The provider must provide a technically detailed explanation of the treatment

Providers must explain intended treatments to patients. However, the explanation does not need to be, or should be, highly detailed and technical. Patients should be able to easily understand what is being said.

6. HIPAA regulations specify how healthcare providers should:

Correct answer:

b. Store and handle patient records

HIPAA regulations govern how healthcare providers should store and handle patient records. There is also a section of the act that deals with insurance coverage for employees.

7. OSHA regulations are primarily designed to protect:

Correct answer:

a. Workers

OSHA regulations are primarily designed to protect workers. However, they impact everyone.

8. OSHA regulations requires all of the following for healthcare workers except for:

Correct answer:

a. Malpractice insurance coverage

OSHA does not govern malpractice insurance coverage. However, practitioners should carry policies and comply with their state, local government, and employer requirements.

9. All of the following are characteristics of systematic reviews except they:

Correct answer:

b. Are based on one or two findings

Systematic reviews help practitioners say current on research and promote evidence-based practices. Systematic reviews are generally not based on just one or two findings.

Clinical Practice – Part 1

In the book *To Do No Harm*, by Julianne M. Morath and Joanne E. Turnbull, the authors identify error "as a symptom of a larger problem." Medical authorities are now beginning to study clinical error with the same rigor they use to study diseases.

Within the scope of clinical practice, some basic requirements are necessary to provide quality care and to prevent error. More and more states are requiring licensure, which is an important step in making acupuncture safe and accessible to patients. While licensure requirements may vary from state to state, training for acupuncturist in the United States is becoming more consistent since US practitioners meet board certification requirements of the National Certification Commission for Acupuncture and Oriental Medicine.

Research shows safety can be linked to qualifications and training of professionals. Studies show the occurrence of serious adverse events in the acupuncture clinic, reduces with the more training a practitioner receives. Licensure and training requirements ensure more qualified practitioners.

The subject of minimizing error in the acupuncture setting, however, is still new. So, acupuncturists must rely on skills they learn during training to form the basis of safe clinical practice. These skills include, but are not limited to:

- · Listening, observational, and communication skills
- Documentation skills
- Ability to determine a differential diagnosis and appropriate treatment plan
- Ability to apply theoretical and experiential knowledge to clinical cases
- Ability to administer safe and effective needling, moxibustion, cupping, gua sha, electro-stimulation and other related therapies
- Ability to prevent the transmission of infection

- Ability to appropriately manage emergency situations or accidents
- Ability to safely prescribe herbal medicine

Listening and Communication Skills

We have all heard it before that the best communicators are good listeners. Good listening skills basically translate into active listening. What does it mean to practice active listening? Active listening means the listener is completely engaged in what the speaker is communicating. The listener is not judging what is being said, formulating his thoughts or responses to the speaker, or even worse thinking, about something else totally unrelated.

"Nature has given men one tongue, but two ears That we may hear others twice as much as we speak." - Epictetus

In general, acupuncturists are trained to be in-tune with their patients and their patients' energy. As a discipline, acupuncture is an intuitive practice, so for the most part acupuncturists already are likely already keen in listening and paying attention to their patient's spoken and unspoken needs. Many patients actually turn to complementary medicine such as acupuncture because they feel traditional doctors do not listen to them.

Communication is built into the Traditional Chinese Medicine diagnosis. If you recall, the four aspects of diagnosis are:

- Asking (10 questions)
- Observing (appearance, signs, smells)
- Listening (spoken and unspoken communication, auscultating)
- Feeling (Palpating, pulse diagnosis)

These guidelines promote active listening and provide a framework for acupuncturists to practice safely. Mistakes from poor communication can be avoided by remembering those guidelines—especially in a fast paced clinic environment. As a heuristic,

acupuncturists can practice active listening by remembering these four pillars and applying their critical thinking skills.

"RULE OF THUMB—MISTAKES FROM POOR COMMUNICATION CAN BE AVOIDED BY REMEMBERING THE FOUR DIAGNOSTIC GUIDELINES OF TCM."

Critical Thinking Skills

Active listening is a component of critical thinking. Critical thinking as well as intuition is important in the acupuncture setting. Critical thinking helps us to discriminate and make decisions--use our better judgment. Critical thinking involves the use of logic and is a tool that healthcare providers can use to reduce their vulnerability and error.

Critical thinking is not only about how we take action but also when we take action. As previously noted, negligence can occur due to omission or commission. A major area of concern in the acupuncture setting is when to make referrals. When we are presented with unfamiliar, ambiguous or conflicting information, it can sometimes be difficult to determine "Is this a case I should refer?" Our critical thinking skills can help us glean through information and make an informed decision.

Winston Churchill once said that "True genius resides in the capacity for evaluation of uncertain, hazardous, and conflicting information." Factors to help us effectively evaluate information include:

- · Being objective
- Making assumptions based on the evidence
- Asking clarifying questions

Consider this example, an acupuncturist receives a call from an individual's adult daughter that her father is having severe heart burn and would like to schedule an appointment. The acupuncturist should also ask does the father have any radiating chest pain, irregular heart beat, or profuse sweating (signs of cardiac arrest). If so, the appropriate action would be to refer the father to an emergency room

rather than schedule an appointment for acupuncture treatment.

Clinical Warning Signs for Referral

The acupuncturist can use clarifying questions to help decide when to refer a patient. However, the BEST MEASURE the acupuncturist can take is to actively MONITOR patients for medical red flags. Some situations when an acupuncturist should refer patients include:

- Sudden chest pain (coronary occlusion, pneumothorax, or aneurysm)
- Excessive hemorrhaging (shock risk)
- Recent head trauma (concussion, brain injuries)
- Persistent cough (pleural effusion, lung cancer)
- Severe abdominal pains (appendicitis, ruptured abscess)
- Gastro-intestinal bleeding from upper or lower GI tract
- New onset of severe headache (aneurysms, brain tumor)
- Seriously Infected wounds (any infected foot ulcers in diabetic patients should be referred)
- Persistently swollen lymph nodes, difficulty swallowing, breast lumps, abdominal masses, unexplained weight loss (cancer)
- Unexplained weight loss, thirst, frequent urination (Diabetes Type II)
- Persistent tenderness and swelling in lower leg or thigh (thrombophlebitis, peripheral vascular disorder)
- Visual disturbances or severe redness in eyes (glaucoma)
- Altered levels of consciousness (stroke or impending coma)
- · Broken bones or dislocated joints that need immobilizing
- Suicide risks
- Severe depression or emotional disturbance which may require behavioral therapy or counseling
- · Children with neurological deficits, developmental delays, or

learning disabilities

- Sudden onset of new neurological problems
- Sudden respiratory distress
- Signs of an undiagnosed highly infectious disease (Hepatitis, HIV, tuberculosis)
- Spotting during pregnancy or patients with pre-eclampsia who develop severe headaches and blurred vision (miscarriage risk)
- · Post-menopausal vaginal bleeding
- Fever of unknown origin
- Frequent syncope or light-headedness (brain tumor)
- Anaphylaxis (anaphylactic shock)
- New occurrence of exophthalmos/enlarged eyes or goiter (Grave's disease)
- Elder or child abuse (needs to reported to the proper authorities)

"RULE OF THUMB: WHEN A SITUATION IS URGENT, THE ACUPUNCTURIST SHOULD TALK TO THE REFERRED TO PROVIDER OR AUTHORITY DIRECTLY VIA TELEPHONE OR IN PERSON."

Medical Errors

As healers our basic oath is to do no harm. As humans, however, we are subject to err. Understanding this situation, we need to be as objective as possible when treating patients who may be at risk for possible complications, serious illness, or death. We need to stay current on training in our field and to use our critical thinking skills to apply the knowledge we have learned. Additionally, it's helpful to remember that failing to act when needed is the same as acting in error. In healthcare, three terms are used to describe the types of active failure:

 Slips – occur in skilled-based activities that we do automatically, such as picking up the wrong formula bottle when reaching for two bottles with similar labels. Slips usually occur when we are distracted or fatigued.

- Lapses are readily evident and usually happen with rulebased activities, such as missing a step in the clean needle technique. Lapses happen when our memory fails us or we leave out a step because of time constraints and stress.
- Mistakes are deficits of knowledge or failed judgment.
 Mistakes are knowledge-based and can go unnoticed for a long time. Mistakes are the easiest of the three types of failure to intervene and correct, though. Mistakes can be prevented by proper training and practice.

Another more critical medical error is "failure to rescue." Failure to rescue happens when a practitioner withholds treatment or does not act in a timely manner to prevent serious injury or death. Failure to provide timely intervention can be due to negligence, to not being unaware of the all factors affecting a patient, or as a result of misdiagnosis and miscommunication. Failure to rescue is critical because it can result in death or severe disability.

Documentation and Reporting

Accurate documentation is also another important step in preventing mistakes. In the event of litigation, your documentation may be your best witness. Clinical notes should be clear, comprehensive, and coherent. Indicate all referrals and the reason for referring a patient.

Insurance requirements may vary from state to state, so the acupuncturist may need to use specific documentation to meet those requirements. More and more insurance companies are beginning to provide coverage for acupuncture. So, acupuncturists who do choose to bill insurance should be familiar with the appropriate ICD and CDT codes.

At a minimum, treatment records should contain at least the following information:

- Clinical observations, both subjective and objective
- Assessment which includes a TCM and when possible Western diagnosis
- Treatment plan
- Methods used, such as acupuncture, gua sha, cupping, electro-stimulation, qi gong, etc.
- Herbal recommendations
- Follow-up and home care instructions

Each state specifies how long acupuncture records should be retained, so practitioners should check their individual State guidelines.

Case Study 2

A 22 year old male college student came to see an acupuncturist for insomnia, difficulty concentrating, depression, and anxiety. During the first visit, he indicated he was depressed due to emotional strain with his father and a recent break up with his girlfriend. He indicated no history of substance abuse. Further, he said he did not smoke and only drank a few beers occasionally. He said he was conscientious about eating healthy foods since as a youth he had some food allergies. The patient appeared physically healthy. The acupuncturist decided to initially treat him with acupuncture and herbs. On the first visit, the acupuncturist needled ear Shenmen, PC 6, Yin tang, Anmian, LV 3, LI 4, St 36, GB 34, and Ren 12. Xiao Yao San was given for herbal supplementation. The patient continued with weekly acupuncture sessions once a week, for several months. After 4 months, the patient's father passed away and the patient became even more depressed. During a treatment, the patient mentioned to the acupuncturist that he felt fatigued and almost like he couldn't "go on." At the end of that treatment, the acupuncturist strongly recommended the patient contact a mental health counselor for further assistance with his signs of depression and grief. The acupuncturist documented the referral and the patient's comments about not feeling like he could "go on." Should this practitioner have given the patient the suicide prevention number?

Discussion

Suicide is a preventable health problem and is the 10th leading cause of death in the US. The patient in this case is at possible risk for suicide. For every 11 suicide attempts, one victim will be successful. Risks for suicide include depression, mental disorders, history of family abuse, drug abuse, firearms in the house, and family history of suicide. Males are four times more likely to die from suicide than females. Additionally, suicide is the third leading cause of deaths for young people ages 15 to 24.

In this situation, the acupuncturist should ask more clarifying

questions to see if suicide is a definite risk. Ask: Why does he feel he cannot go on? What support system does he currently have to help with grief? Is he seeing a counselor? Is the patient taking any drugs or using alcohol to cope?

The patient should not be left alone if suicide is an imminent risk. It is out of the acupuncturist's scope of practice to provide mental health counseling. If the acupuncturist determines in fact that this patient might attempt suicide, the acupuncturist should:

- Call 911, or
- Refer the patient to the emergency room of a hospital, or
- Call the suicide prevention line at 1-800-273-TALK (8255) and provide the patient with this number to keep, as well

Case Study 3

A 50 year old female patient contacted Sally, an acupuncturist, for swelling, pain and redness in her left foot. She had seen an acupuncturist years ago and had experienced good results. She said a family member suggested the swelling might be rheumatoid arthritis and that she should see a rheumatologist. However, the patient wanted to try acupuncture first. During the health intake, the patient indicated she did not have any other health problems. She was not diabetic and usually experienced good health. Additionally, she had gone through menopause without any difficulties. She indicated the swelling had just recently occurred within the past week.

Sally assessed the patient to determine if the possible cause of swelling was rheumatoid arthritis. The patient did not have any bilateral swelling, pain, or redness, fever, or swollen lymph nodes. Additionally, the patient did not have any other signs of joint immobility. After more clarifying questions, the patient mentioned as an aside she liked gardening and had lots of ants. Sally asked the patient if she were allergic to any insects. The patient confirmed severe reactions to bee and ant stings in the past. Sally and the patient then determined it was possible the patient had been bitten by ants while gardening.

In this instance, Sally decided to not refer the patient and to treat her with acupuncture using LI 11, SP 10, SP 6, Bafeng, and local points. The patient was also given a popular topical for insect bites to apply directly on the foot and ankle. After three days, Sally had the patient follow-up. The swelling, redness, and pain had completely disappeared in the patient's affected foot. No further action was necessary besides documenting the patient's records and suggesting a natural repellent when gardening. **Was this acupuncturist's course of action appropriate?**

Discussion

In this case, Sally, the acupuncturist, did not refer the patient to

another healthcare provider (i.e., a rheumatologist). Sally asked many clarifying questions to determine the best course of action. This acupuncturist was thorough in both her evaluation and follow-through. Her decision to treat the patient for indication of an insect bite was effective, and appropriate.

Section Review Exercises

(Answers on the page following these questions.)

- 1. What is active listening?
 - Developing responses while listening to a speaker
 - b. Thinking about other what you want to say while someone else is speaking
 - c. Being engaged with the speaker and listening without distractions
 - d. Being distracted with other thoughts when someone is speaking
- 2. Critical thinking helps us:
 - a. Make decisions
 - b. Express thoughts
 - c. Store information
 - d. Report findings
- 3. All of the following are factors to help us effectively evaluate information except for:
 - a. Asking clarifying questions
 - b. Being objective
 - c. Basing decisions on opinion
 - d. Making assumptions based on the evidence
- 4. With regards to identifying red flags, the acupuncturist should

actively:

- a. Refer
- b. Communicate
- c. Monitor
- d. Report
- 5. All of the following are clinical red flags except for:
 - a. Unexplained weight loss
 - b. Rhinitis
 - c. Abdominal masses
 - d. Fever of unknown origin
- 6. The period for retaining acupuncture records:
 - a. Is 1 year
 - b. Is 2 years
 - c. Is 5 years
 - d. Varies state to state

Answers to Review Exercises

1. What is active listening?

Correct answer: d.

Being engaged with the speaker and listening without distractions Active listening is being engaged with your speaker. It means giving a speaker your undivided attention.

2. Critical thinking helps us:

Correct answer: a. Make decisions Critical thinking helps use or judgment and make decisions. Critical thinking also helps us evaluate information.

3. All of the following are factors to help us effectively evaluate information except for:

Correct answer: c.

Basing decisions on opinion Factors to help us effectively evaluate information include asking clarifying questions, being objective, and using the evidence. Basing decisions on opinion is not a factor.

4. With regards to identifying red flags, the acupuncturist should actively:

Correct answer: c.

Monitor Acupuncturist should actively monitor patients for clinical red flags. They should also ask clarifying questions in addition to active monitoring.

5. All of the following are clinical red flags except for:

Correct answer: b. Rhinitis

The list of clinical red flags is quite extensive. Rhinitis or allergic rhinitis would not be a cause for referral in most cases.

6. The period for retaining acupuncture records:

Correct answer: d.

Varies state to state Each state has its own specific requirements for retaining clinical and employee records. Acupuncturists should be familiar with their state guidelines.

Infectious Disease Awareness

Acupuncturists must be aware of the transmission risks of pathogens and exercise caution to prevent cross-infection and transmission. During a new patient intake, be certain to conduct a thorough health history. The best method to prevent nosocomial infections is to practice hand hygiene and to clean work surfaces. The following summarizes basic information on HIV and Hepatitis transmission and incubation periods.

Hepatitis and HIV

1. Hepatitis A (HAV)

15 – 45 days Incubation
Bloodborne, fecal contaminated food and water
Abrupt Onset
Vaccine Available
Not Chronic, common with children and young adults

2. Hepatitis B (HBV)

50 – 180 days Incubation Bloodborne Insidious (slow) Onset Vaccine Available Chronic 5 – 10% of cases

3. Hepatitis C (HCV)

20 -90 days Incubation Bloodborne Insiduous Onset No Vaccine Chronic 50% of cases

4. Hepatitis E (HEV)

30 – 40 days Incubation Waterborne Abrupt Onset No Vaccine Not Chronic, more prevalent in developing countries

5. Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)

2 weeks – 10 years Incubation (50% of cases develop within 10 years; some occur in as much as 20 years from initial exposure)

Bloodborne

Asymptomatic or symptomatic; symptoms can resemble other common diseases like mononucleosis or a common cold No Vaccine

Chronic can lead to Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome (AIDS)

Books

- 1. Cassidy, Claire M. Contemporary Chinese Medicine and Acupuncture. New York: Churchill-Livingstone, 2002.
- 2. Crellin, John and Ania, Fernando. *Professionalism and Ethics in Complementary and Alternative Medicine*. New York: The Haworth Integrative Healing Press, 2002.
- 3. Kuoch, David. *Acupuncture Desk Reference*. San Francisco: Acumedwest, Inc., 2009.
- 4. Morath, Julianne M. and Turnbull, Joanne. E. *To Do No Harm:* Ensuring Patient Safety in Health Care Organizations. San Francisco: John Wiley and Sons, 2005.
- 5. National Acupuncture Foundation. Clean Needle Technique Manual for Acupuncturists: Guidelines and Standards for the Clean and Safe Clinical Practice of Acupuncture, 4th Edition. Washington: National Acupuncture Foundation, 1997.
- Riegelman, Rickard K. Minimizing Medical Mistakes: The Art of Medical Decision Making. Boston: Little, Brown and Company, 1991.
- 7. Rosenthal, Marilyn M. and Sutcliffe, Kathleen M. *Medical Error:* What Do We Know? What Do We Do? San Francisco: John Wiley and Sons, 2002.
- 8. Spencer, John W. and Jacobs, Joseph J. *Complementary and Alternative Medicine: An Evidence-Based Approach*. St. Louis: Mosby, Inc., 2003.
- 9. Stone, Julie. *An Ethical Framework for Complementary and Alternative Therapies*. New York: Routledge Taylor and Francis Group, 2002.

Links

- American Heart Association New CPR Guidelines, http://guidelines.ecc.org/#
- 2. Centers for Disease Control, HBV Facts, http://www.cdc.gov/hepatitis/HBV/index.htm
- 3. Centers for Disease Control, HIV Facts, http://www.cdc.gov/hiv/resources/qa/definitions.htm
- 4. Centers for Disease Control, Hand Hygiene Site, http://www.cdc.gov/handhygiene/

5. National Suicide Prevention, http://www.suicidepreventionlifeline.org/

You have successfully downloaded the course material. Please remember to **SAVE** this document (if your browser has not done this already). The SAVE option is usually located in the FILE menu of your web browser or move the cursor to the bottom of your browser screen for a save option. To save on an iPhone, tap on the screen then tap on "Open in iBooks."

Quizzes, Certificates of Completion, Downloads

To take quizzes, get certificates, and download courses at www.healthcmi.com:

Login (if not already logged in) and enter your username and password

After Login, a menu appears entitled "Courses, Tests, Certificates" Click on "Acupuncture Courses"

Follow the links. Courses can be downloaded to multiple locations, quizzes can be taken (and retaken if needed), and certificates of completion can be saved and printed.

Note: First, select the Quiz button. Next, it changes to the Take Test button. This changes to a get Certificate button once you have passed the test.

www.HealthCMi.com

Summary of Medical Error Prevention

Safety Rules

SAFETY RULES OF THUMB

- "Primum non nocere"- first do no harm.
- Develop an attitude of safety.
- Avoid mistakes from poor communication by remembering the four diagnostic guidelines of TCM. Asking, Observing, Listening, and Feeling.
- Be proactive when the situation is urgent. Talk to the referred to provider or authority directly via telephone or in person.
- Apply universal precautions to all patients.
- Never use bent or broken needles.
- Keep a list of emergency numbers and helpful websites handy and up-to-date.

World Health Organization Recommendations

THE WORLD HEALTH ORGANIZATION RECOMMENDS HAND WASHING AND HAND HYGIENE AS FOLLOWS:

Hand Washing – when the hands are soiled

- Apply soap over entire hands and between fingers
- Lather the hands for 40 60 seconds
- Rinse with running warm water
- Dry with a clean towel or air dry

Hand Hygiene – when the hands <u>are</u> <u>not soiled</u>

- Apply sanitizing product, such as an alcohol-based cleaner
- Rub for 20 30 seconds
- Air dry

Preventative Measures

TEN COUNTER AND PREVENTATIVE MEASURES FOR ACUPUNCTURE

- Avoid injury to vital organs, arteries, and nerves by reviewing the point location for less used points. Use extra caution with points located near the eye. If a vital organ is punctured, call 911.
- Exercise additional caution with thin, elderly and patients with a weak constitution.
- Avoid contraindicated points for pregnant patients: LI 4, GB 21, SP 6. BL 60, and BL 67.
- 4. Recognize signs of transient hypotension (i.e., low blood pressure) and elevate the patient's legs.
- Use thinner needles for needle sensitive patients.
- Never used bent or broken needles. Avoid stuck and broken needles by having the patient release muscle tension before insertion.
- 7. Encourage patients to eat before treatments. Avoid needling patients who have low blood sugar or have an empty stomach.
- 8. Keep current on CPR and first aid.
- 9. Do not needle intoxicated patients or patients in altered states of consciousness.
- 10. Do not retain needles in infants or toddlers.

Herbal Safety

ACTIONS TO PROMOTE HERBAL SAFETY



- 1. Review allergies with patients before administering new formulas.
- Obtain a list of all Western pharmaceuticals or other supplements.
- Check drug-herb interactions and herb-herb interactions.
- Consider contraindications when selecting herbs and formulas (i.e., pregnancy, heat conditions, cold conditions, deficiency, excess conditions, Spleen deficiency, Qi deficiency, phlegm retention, etc.).
- 5. Ensure proper dosages are used (i.e., children debilitated or weak patients).
- 6. Ensure patients understand how to decoct and prepare herbal formulas.
- 7. Ensure patients understand how to and when to take herbs, or apply topical compounds.
- 8. Provide proper follow-up and re-assessment. Make certain the patient is not experiencing complications or allergic reactions.

New CPR Guidelines

NEW CPR GUIDELINES: COMPRESSION FIRST The majority of cardiac arrests occur in adults. Research has shown that early defibrillation is a critical element in survival. So, the American Heart Association has revised the steps for adult CPR. CHEST COMPRESSIONS ARE NOW FIRST.

- Remember C-A-B instead of A-B-C.
- Refer to http://guidelines.ecc.org/#



Hepatitis and HIV

BLOODBORNE PATHOGEN SUMMARY

Hepatitis A (HAV)	Hepatitis B (HBV)	Hepatitis C (HCV)	Hepatitis E (HEV)	Human Immuno- deficiency Virus (HIV)
 15 – 45 days Incubation Bloodborne, fecal-contaminated food and water Abrupt Onset Vaccine Available Not Chronic, common in children and young adults 	 50 – 180 days Incubation Bloodborne Insidious (slow) Onset Vaccine Available Chronic 5 – 10% of cases 	 20 -90 days Incubation Bloodborne Insidious Onset No Vaccine Chronic 50% of cases 	 30 – 40 days Incubation Waterborne Abrupt Onset No Vaccine Not Chronic, more prevalent in developing countries 	 2 weeks – 10 years Incubation Bloodborne Asymptomatic or symptomatic No Vaccine Chronic can lead to Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome (AIDS)

Links

IMPORTANT LINKS

- American Heart Association New CPR Guidelines, http://guidelines.ecc.org/#
- Centers for Disease Control, HBV Facts, http://www.cdc.gov/hepatitis/HBV/index.htm
- 3. Centers for Disease Control, HIV Facts, http://www.cdc.gov/hiv/resources/qa/definitions.htm
- 4. Centers for Disease Control, Hand Hygiene Site, http://www.cdc.gov/handhygiene/
- 5. National Suicide Prevention, http://www.suicidepreventionlifeline.org/

You have successfully downloaded the course material. Please remember to **SAVE** this document (if your browser has not done this already). The SAVE option is usually located in the FILE menu of your web browser or move the cursor to the bottom of your browser screen for a save option. To save on an iPhone, tap on the screen then tap on "Open in iBooks."

Quizzes, Certificates of Completion, Downloads

To take quizzes, get certificates, and download courses at www.healthcmi.com:

Login (if not already logged in) and enter your username and password

After Login, a menu appears entitled "Courses, Tests, Certificates" Click on "Acupuncture Courses"

Follow the links. Courses can be downloaded to multiple locations, quizzes can be taken (and retaken if needed), and certificates of completion can be saved and printed.

Note: First, select the Quiz button. Next, it changes to the Take Test button. This changes to a get Certificate button once you have passed the test.

www.HealthCMi.com